CARR-1149

Benjamin Bowser Farm 1873; 1878
4864 Schalk Road One :
Alesia (vicinity)

The Benjamin Bowser Farm was assembled from several smaller parcels by John Fair,
Jr., beginning in 1837. By 1852, he had a house of wood on the property. Four years later
John and Rebecca Fair sold the farm, 136 acres, to Benjamin Bowser for $3100. By 1866, he
had a log house and frame barn. On 14 May 1873, it was noted that he had a new barn worth
$100. Bowser had a machine shop on the premises. He also had a sawmill worth $550.
According to the painted date placque on the gable end of the existing house, Bowser was
successful enough that he could build this new brick dwelling in 1878.
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Survey No. CARR-1149

Magi No.

Maryland Historical Trust M’;"RYLAND INVENTORY oF
State Historic Sites Inventory Form "'STORIC PROPERTrg Po= _ves _no

1. Name ¢indicate preferred name)

historic Benjamin Bowser Famm

and/or common

2. Location

street & number 4864 Schalk Road One ____not for publication

city, town Alesia _X_vicinity of congressional district

state Mawland county Ca&ll

- - L3

3. Classification

Category Ownership Status Present Use

____ district- . public _X_occupied __ agriculture —__ museum

__X building{s) X private — unoccupied - commercial — park

___ structure — both —_ work in progress ____educational _.X_ private residence

—_site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
o object ____inprocess _X _yes: restricted - government . scientific

) ___being considered — yes: unrestricted — industrial ___transportation

XﬂOt applicable __ no ___ military ___other:

4- Owner Of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Wayne I. Miller

street & number 4850 Schalk Road One ___telephone no.: 374-9550Q

city,town  Millers state and zip code mayviand 21107

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. i r+honae Annex liber 930
street & number 55 North Court Street folio 378
city, town Westminster state Marviand

6. Representation in Existing =istorical surveys

title

date — federal ____state ___ _county ___ local

‘ wository for survey records

city, town state




7. Description Survey No. CARR-1149

Condition _ Check one Check one

—_excellent — deteriorated ___ unaltered __X original site .

— X good —__ruins X altered — _moved date of move
— ftair —— unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

Summary: The Benjamin Bowser Farm is located on the west side of Schalk Road
One. The house faces east, toward Schalk Road, and is a two-story, four-bay by two-bay
building of 5-1 common bond brick. It is banked into the hill on the west. The first
‘story has two center entrances. The windows have 2/2 double hung sash. The openings
are not spaced regularly. There is a raised one-story porch that wraps around the east,
south, and west elevations. The south elevation has a semicircular date panel painted
"Built 1878 By B. Bowser." South of the house is a 5-1 common bond brick
smokehouse on a rubble stone foundation. East of the smokehouse is a stone and frame
combination springhouse and summer kitchen banked into a hill on the southwest corner.
The building is a rubble stone one-story structure with a cantilevered frame attic on the
north side that is clapboarded. The first floor plan has an enclosed central staircase
against an east-west wall that is placed north of center and divides the house. The north
half is divided into two even rooms. ' The south half has a large kitchen in the southwest
room. Under the cantilevered section is an enclosed stair. North of the house is a
wagon shed and a privy attached. Just north of the wagon shed is a frame shop building
with slate gable roof. It is one bay by three bays, with an east-of-center entrance on the
south gable end. The shop is one-and-one-half stories tall, having a raised attic, and is
covered in German siding. North of all these structures, and set very close to the road,
is the barn complex. - The banked barn has the forebay facing south. Attached to the

~ southwest corner of the barn is a poultry house. It is two stories and is banked into the
hill. South of the barn is a vertical board, wood-shingled gable roof hog pen. North of
the barn is a wagon shed with corn cribs on the east and west sides, and open ends on the
north and south. :

The Benjamin Bowser Farm is located on the west side of Schalk Road One
approximately one-and-one-half miles north of Alesia and one-and-one-half miles -
southeast of Lineboro. The farm complex is laid out on a linear plan at the base of a
steep ridge, and consists of a brick house built in 1878, a brick smokehouse, a stone and
frame summer kitchen/springhouse, a frame shop building, frame wagon shed with
attached privy, corn crib, hog pen, and bank barn with attached poultry house wing.

The house faces east, toward Schalk Road, and is a two-story, four-bay by two-
bay building of 5-1 common bond brick on a rubble stone foundation. It is banked into
the hill on the west. The exposed east cellar wall has one six-light sash in the south bay.
The first story has two center entrances with three-light transoms and doors with one
light over two vertical panels. The windows have 2/2 double hung sash with beaded-edge
frames, and wood sills, lintels, and corner blocks. The openings are not spaced -

 regularly, the two north bays being close together. The gable roof has inverted-V-seam -
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metal and a boxed cornice. There is a raised one-story porch that wraps around the east,
south, and west elevations. Stone and brick piers support the deck. The posts on the
east have been boxed and the balusters on the south replaced, but original posts survive
on the south. They are chamfered, with tripartite capital blocks. The original balusters
on the east are vertical, and are square in plan. The steps are off the center of the east
porch. The south elevation of the house is two bays, with two small four-light windows
in the gable end and a semicircular date panel painted "Built 1878 By B. Bowser."
Between the first story windows is a smaller one-light sash with a bullnose frame, and
wood sill, lintel and corner blocks. The mortar joints show evidence of striping, some of
which is missing around the small window, suggesting it was cut into the wall later, and
new bricks toothed in. There is a door in the eastern-most end of the south elevation of
the cellar. The north elevation has identical windows in the gable, but has an external .
brick chimney centered on the wall, and a six-light sash in the east bay of the cellar. An
old aerial photograph in the owners possession shows an internal brick chimney at each
end, and apparently a wood shingle roof. There were no steps east of the porch, which
had six posts and balusters between them across the whole front.

The cellar is not subdivided, and the owner is not aware of the existence of any
walls in the past. The stone walls are plastered, and there are the remains of a brick
kitchen fireplace on the north wall. On the south wall are two brick piers that support a
chimney above. There are beaded-edge board doors on the front and wood shelves
between the piers. The hewn joists are supported by a single longitudinal summer beam.
The oak flooring in the first story is stamped "Royal Oak Flooring; Clear Plain Red;
Crossett Lumber Co., Crossett Arkansas." The first floor plan has an enclosed central
staircase against an east-west wall that is placed north of center and divides the house.
The north half is divided into two even rooms. The south half has a large kitchen in the
south room that once had wainscot, a drysink, and a cookstove in the southeast corner.
The southeast room is small, and the entrance to the stairs up to the second story is here.
A door between the southeast and northeast rooms has been closed off, and the doorways
between the southwest and southeast rooms and southwest and northwest rooms, have
been enlarged and given segmental arches at a later date. The window and door
surrounds are flat, with a rounded interior edge. The south half of the attic has vertical
studs under each rafter. The studs contain nail holes suggesting this was finished as a
room, and plaster survives on the south brick wall. The north half of the attic is not
finished. The rafters are sawn and are mitered at the ridge.

South of the house is a 5-1 common bond brick smokehouse on a rubble stone
foundation. The north elevation has a vertical board door with wood lintel and corner
blocks. Above four bricks were omitted in the gable end for ventilation, but these are
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now filled by loose bricks. The same arrangement is on the south gable end, as well.
The gable roof has an inverted V-seam covering and a box cornice. The interior retains
its tree, which is a square post with three levels of racks. Each rack has four arms that
support a diamond frame holding the hooks for the meat. The remains of a large brick
fire pit are inside.

East of the smokehouse is a stone and frame combination springhouse and summer
kitchen banked into a hill on the southwest corner. The building is a rubble stone one-
story structure with a cantilevered frame attic on the north side that is clapboarded.

There is a 6/6 double hung sash in the north gable end. Under the cantilevered section is
an enclosed stair that is centered east to west on the north wall, and is flush with the
north wall of the attic above. The clapboard is carried down to cover only the central
section below the attic, where the stairs are. On the east side of the enclosed stairs are
two risers and a vertical board door above them that leads to the remaining stairs. The
sections east and west of the stairs, under the cantilevered north wall, are left open. The
east bay of the north elevation has a vertical board door in a mitered wood frame set in
the stone wall under the cantilever. There is a square wood post under the northeast
corner of the cantilever. The east elevation has a 6/3 double hung sash north of center in
the stone section. The east wall of the cantilevered section is covered in clapboard. The
south elevation has clapboard in the gable end, with a 6/6 sash west of center. The west
elevation has six-light sash north of center and a brick wall on a stone foundation from
ground level to the plate of the cantilevered section. The stone and brick are not tied into
the stone wall of the main structure, and are severely cracked. The north end girt of the
cantilevered section projects through the brick wall.

The lower story has plastered walls inside and a concrete floor with concrete
trough on the west wall. There is a large brick fireplace in the southeast corner with a
wood mantel tree and the original cranes still hanging in it. The joists are hewn on top
and bottom. There are wood lintels over the windows and doors in the interior. In the -
attic story the brick chimney is corbelled toward the ridge but the top has collapsed and
no longer projects through the roof. The stone walls project about 2% feet above the
floor level. The large plates are one piece, spanning the entire length from the south
wall to the end of the north wall of the cantilever. The north attic girt is hewn and has a
central tenon set in a mortise in each plate and pegged. The framing on the north end is
nailed. The rafters are sawn and mitered at the ridge.

North of the house is a wagon shed with nailed 2x4 frame and beaded-edge-and-
center vertical board siding. The south end is open, only the pintles of the former doors
that were here surviving. The shed is set on wood piers and has a gable roof with
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corrugated metal on the west half and inverted V-seam on the east. On the north end is a
boarded-over opening in the center, and a privy attached to the wall west of the opening.
The siding, and the door on the east, are the same as the wagon shed. The shed roof of
the privy is inverted V-seam.

Just north of the wagon shed is a frame shop building with slate gable roof and
rubble stone foundation. It is one bay by three bays, with an east-of-center entrance on
the south gable end, and a 6/6 double hung sash in the center of the gable end. It is one-
and-one-half stories tall, having a raised attic, and is covered in German siding. The
door is of vertical, beaded-edge-and-center boards. The east elevation has three six-light
sash. All openings have flat surrounds with gabled tops. The north elevation has a 6/6
sash centered in the gable end. The west elevation is vertical boards with several
openings cut into it. The shop is built of 2x4 studs on the east and 4x4 studs on the
west. The studs are full height, with 1x6 clamps nailed to them and 2x6 sawn joists that
rest on the clamps. The floor is concrete. There are three posts down the middle of the
building, on a north-south line. The straight run stairs begin in the northeast corner and
run along the north wall. There is a trap door at the top of the stairs. The rafters are
circular sawn 2x4’s that are mitered at the ridge.

Northwest of the shop is a barrel-vaulted, poured concrete ground cellar set into
the hill. It has a four-panel wood door on the east end.

North of all these structures, and set very close to the road, is the barn complex.
The banked barn has the forebay facing south. The foundation is of rubble stone on all
sides, with quoins at the corners. The lower story of the south elevation has a vertical
board dutch door on strap hinges, a wood vent with louvers of diamond section, a
beaded-edge vertical board dutch door on strap hinges, a similar vent, stone infill where a
door was formerly, and two more vertical board dutch doors on strap hinges separated by
a similar wood vent. The upper story is five bays, with two gabled wood vents at each
end and a center door with the top portion of a gabled vent set above it. The siding is
vertical, beaded-edge-and-center, tongue-and-groove boards. The east elevation has a
new window in the south bay, with a four-light sash between two six-light sash. The
north bay has a beaded-edge-and-center vertical board dutch door on strap hinges. Above
is a row of three vents, and a door with gabled surround in the north corner. Above this
is a row of two vents, and in the gable end a 6/6 sash with wood vent on either side, all
topped by semi-circular wood trim. The north elevation has the ramp. The east bay of
the lower story has an adjustable wood-louvered vent. In the upper story a six-light
window with gabled surround flanks each side of the center double wagon doors. These
doors match the siding, and have a smaller door inset in the west door. The west
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elevation has one 6/6 sash with gabled surround in the gable end. There is a foundation
for a silo here, with rubble stone set on a brick base, and an opening into the lower
story. Attached to the southwest corner of the barn is a poultry house. The interior of
-the lower story has been altered some, but retains the feed boxes, troughs, and hay racks.
The large joists are hewn on top and bottom, and are supported by two summer beams.
The upper story has a central threshing floor with a hay mow on each side and a granary
in the northeast corner. Some of the original framing has been cut out, and some new
members have been added. There are three-quarter round log rafters joined at the ridge
with a central tenon in mortise, and pegged. The roof has several wind braces of small
section,

The poultry house is a large ell that encloses the west end of the barnyard. The
short section of the ell is attached to the barn, with the long section running south from
the end of it. It is two stories and is banked into the hill, with a stone wall on the west
and north sides of the lower story. The south and east sides are open, and have posts
with braces that support the structure above. The upper story has a shed roof, with
vertical board and batten siding on the north and west and beaded-edge-and-center
vertical board siding on the south and east. The south elevation of the long section has a
6/6 sash and a board door to match the siding, while the short section has two 6/6 sash.
The east elevation of the upper story has six 6/6 sash. The joists are hewn top and
bottom, but the frame and rafters are sawn and nailed 2x4’s. The west side of this
structure is collapsing and it is slated to be demolished this summer (1992).

South of the barn is a vertical board, wood-shingled gabled-roof hog pen. It has a
large door and a small door on the west, and one low opening for hogs on the east, at the
south corner. This building helps to define the barnyard. There are the remains of
fences west of the pen to the poultry house, and east of the pen to the road. Part of the
eastern section of fence is wide, picket cut boards on horizontal rails. Horizontal rail and
horizontal board fences and gates run along the road and enclose the east side of the
barnyard.

North of the barn is a wagon shed with corn cribs on the east and west sides, and
open ends on the north and south. It has a shed roof with inverted V-seam on lath. The
foundation is dry-laid stone. There are horizontal laths on the east and north sides, with
clapboard above. The west and south sides have clapboard only, with a vertical board
door to each crib on the south side. The west crib has been rebuilt. The structure is

built of sawn and nailed 4x4’s.
KS/1h:6/30/92:descrip.12




8. Significance Survey No. CARR-1149

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
____prehistoric ___ archeclogy-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture_____religion
—1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic — conservation — law - science
~~_1500-1599 _X_agriculture - economics — literature — sculpture
1600-1699 _X _architecture —__ education ——_ military , — social/
—1700-1799 ___ art —_engineering ' — __ music ‘ humanitarian
X _1800-1899 ____ commerce —— exploration/settlement ___ philosophy — theater
— 1900- — communications —— industry —_ politics/government __'transpdﬂ'ation
__invention —_ other (specify)
Specific dates 1373; 1878 Builder/Architect
check: Applicable Criteria: _ A __ B X C _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: _ A _ B - C _D _E _F _G
Level of Significance: _ natiomal __ state Y local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
»support

Summary: The Benjamin Bowser Farm was assembled from several smaller parcels by
John Fair, Jr., beginning in 1837. By 1852, he had a house of wood on the property.
Four years later John and Rebecca Fair sold the farm, 136 acres, to Benjamin Bowser for
$3100. By 1866, he had a log house and frame barn. On 14 May 1873, it was noted
that he had a new barn worth $100. Bowser had a machine shop on the premises. He
also had a sawmill worth $550. According to the painted date placque on the gable end
of the existing house, Bowser was successful enough that he could build this new brick
dwelling in 1878.

Historic Period: Agriculture, Architecture

Geographic Organization: Piedmont

Chronological/Development Period: Industrial/Urban Dominance A.D. 1870- 1930
Resource Types: Small family farmstead, Rural vernacular

The Benjamin Bowser Farm was assembled from several smaller parcels by John
Fair, Jr. beginning in 1837 when he purchased 70 acres of what had been "Shaffer’s
Folly". He had a fulling mill on the property by 1841. The other major land purchase
was 65 acres of "Sugar Valley" owned by the late George Fair, which was acquired in
1849. By 1852 he had a house of wood on the property. Four years later, John and
Rebecca Fair sold the farm,- 136 acres, to Benjamin Bowser for $3100. Bowser, who -
was born in Pennsylvania, was 31. Bowser’s first decade was a successful one. The
1860 census notes that he had a 17-year-old male farm hand and an 18-year-old female
servant. By 1866, he had a log house and frame barn, livestock worth $503 and farm
machinery worth $130. The growth of his farm continued. On 14 May 1873, it was
noted that he had a new barn worth $100. The barn and outbuildings were together
valued at $700. This high figure, in 1876, was due to the fact that Bowser had a
machine shop on the premises. What exactly he was producing in his shop is not clear.
The 1880 census simply lists him as a farmer. He also had a sawmill worth $550 and his
two-story log dwelling worth $350. His farm was an above average operation, with three
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horses, four cattle and nine hogs, despite his many other enterprises. According to the
painted date placque on the gable end of the existing house, Bowser was successful
enough that he could build this new brick dwelling in 1878. In 1883, it was noted that a
new house and barn were worth $500. This may have been a different house and barn,
since it was noted in 1894 that 27 acres with a new house and barn were sold to
Frederick and Emma Balters. Bowser’s brick house, on the other hand, was sold in
1895, after his death, to Samuel and Amanda Garvick. By this time, the farm had been
reduced to 67 acres, which is its current size. After Samuel Garvick’s death, Amanda
married John S. Werner, who retained the farm until 1933.

The house has several unique features. The porch that wraps around three sides is
unusual for this area. Most houses have separate porches front and back. The irregular
placement of openings in the front facade is characteristic of earlier "Pennsylvania
Farmhouse" plan buildings, especially log structures. After the Civil War, most houses
were more regular. Unusual and unexplained is the small window that appears to have
been added later to the south side of the first story. It is almost like a pass-through from
the smokehouse, springhouse, and summer kitchen on this side of the house. This farm
has one of the most intact collections of farm outbuildings in northeast Carroll County.
According to the owner, there was a bake oven next to the smokehouse, on the east, and
a garage north of the house. Laid out basically on a linear farm plan, the barn is turned
with one end to the road, presumably so the forebay will face south. This must have
been a more important consideration to Bowser than having the barn "front" face the road

and thus have the ramp side banked into the hill, as would be ideal.
KS/Ih:6/29/92:signif12.ken
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Carroll County Land Records
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property _62.41 acres

Quadrangle name __Lineboro Quadrangle scale 1:24000
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Verbal boundary description and justification

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle genneth M. Short, Historic Planner

organization Carroll County Department of Planning date July 8, 1992

street & number 225 North Center Street telephone  (410) 857-2145

city or town Westminster state  Maryland

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created by
an Act of the Maryland Legislature to be found in the Annotated
Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and
record purposes only and do not constitute any infringement of
individual property rights.
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CAR.. 1149
4864 Schalk Road #1
CHAIN OF TITLE
Ralph & Hannah Carroll Wayne & Catherine ? 12-28- LWS 378 | Deed fee $75,000 67+ a.
Launghman Miller 1985 930 simple
Aaron & Anna Werner York Ralph & Hannah ? 4-1-1941 | LDM 205 | Deed fee $1,500 67 a.+
Laughman 175 simple 1st tract in 159-144
George B. Wemer, exec. Carroll Aaron & Anna Werner ? 8-19- EMM 144 | Deed fee $1,275, sold 1 April 1933
of John S. Werner 1933 159 simple
Alhanda Werner (wife of Carroll John S. Werner Carroll 5-26- JHB 95 493 | Deed fee $2,000 67 a. & 7 a.
John S. Werner) & 1902 simple Garvick holds mortgage 4
Rebecca Garvick (widow Woodberry, January 1890 WNM29-44
of Jacob Garvick) Baltimore
City refers to 2 deeds
Barbara Bowser et al heirs All over Samuel & Amanda ? 8-20- BFC 81 390 | Deed 67 a. $2,000 48 a.
of Benjamin Bowser dec. creation Garvick (Sam dec., 1895
intestate Carroll Amanda m. John S. (a)
County Werner ’
Peter Lucabaugh & wife Samuel Garvick 4-4-1883 | WNM 425 | Deed fee 7 a. $250.00
Sarah 70 simple no earlier deed ref. (b)
John Fair & wife Rebecca Carroll Benjamin Bowser Carroll 3-28- GEW 26 331 | Deed $3,100 136 a.
1856 refers to 3 deeds (€)]
Joseph Myers & wife Carroll John Fair, Jr. Carroll 4-1-1837 | WW 1 276 | Indenture $2,500 63+ a., 6 a.
Maria of Convey-
ance (1)
George D. Klinefelter & Carroll John Fair, Jr. Carroll 8-8-1848 | IS 9 404 | Deed $50 2a.
wife Elizabeth part of Bite the Biter
no earlier deed ref. 2)
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Henry Fair, exec. George

John Fair, Jr. Carroll 4-6-1849 | IS 9 405 | Deed of will dated 21 Oct. 1843,
Fair Indenture $337 Sugar Valley, 65 a.,
Carroll gave public notice. This .
was highest bid. 3)
Thomas Sater, Michael Joseph Myers 2-18- Balto. 542 €))
Miller & William Pepple 1828 County
WG 193
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